THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 23 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Opinion No. 5382 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 24, 2016)
2011-GS-45-00095

The State of South Carolina
Respondent

v.

Marc A. Palmer Petitioner

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000700

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Ryan L. Beasley, No. 68307
RYAN L. BEASLEY, P.A.
650 E. Washington Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 679-7777 (Phone)
(864) 672-1406 (Fax)
rlb@ryanbeasleylaw.com

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent
Defense, Appellate Division

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals error in finding that the trial court properly granted the State's Batson v. Kentucky motion and quashing the original jury?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals error in finding that the trial court properly denied the petitioner's motion for a mistrial and motion for a new trial after a witness testified that he took and passed a polygraph test, clearing the witness of the murder for which the petitioner was on trial?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals error in finding that the trial court properly denied the petitioner's motion for a speedy trial?
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals error in finding that the trial court properly admitted into evidence the petitioner's statement to law enforcement after he invoked his right to counsel?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a murder case driven by weak eye witness testimony. On November 15, 2010, the petitioner was arrested for murder, (R. p. 572), and on May 5, 2011 the grand jury indicted him for murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime (R. p. 1). The petitioner was in custody from his arrest until his March 11, 2013 trial date.

The petitioner timely made motions for a speedy trial, yet his case took over two years to be tried. (R. p. 4-6, 11). The speedy trial motion was also renewed along with a motion to dismiss. (R. p. 21). While the petitioner was awaiting trial, two eyewitnesses to the murder changed their stories to implicate the petitioner. (R. p. 134; ln. 17-25; 135, ln. 1-2; R. p. 137, ln. 18-25; 138, ln. 12-14; R. p. 210, ln. 3-9; R. p. 210, ln. 19-25; 211, ln. 1-6; R. p. 211, ln. 7-22; R. p. 211, ln. 14-22). The other two closest witnesses to the murder did not implicate or identify the

petitioner. (R. p. 171; ln. 3-5; 435, ln. 5-15; 452, ln. 15-18; 454, ln. 10-16). The petitioner's speedy trial motions were denied by the trial court. (R. p. 20 ln. 22-25; 21 ln. 1-6; R. p. 11; R. p. 49, ln. 3-4; 55, ln. 11-14).

Jury selection began on March 11, 2013. During the initial jury selection, the petitioner exercised peremptory strikes on both white and black jurors. (R. p. 601). After the jury was selected, the State requested a Batson v. Kentucky hearing, asserting that the petitioner's strikes were not race neutral. (R. p. 33). Despite the motion being brought by the State, the trial court improperly placed the ultimate burden of persuasion on the petitioner. (R. p. 40, ln. 9-12). A disputed juror was seated on the second jury. (R. p. 33, ln. 8; 45, ln. 16-21).

At trial, the petitioner's counsel implied that Michael Montgomery could have murdered the victim in retaliation for a robbery the night before. (R. p. 423, ln. 6-8; 425, ln. 12-25; 426, ln. 1-25; 427, ln. 1-25; 428, ln. 1-3). Over the objection of the petitioner, the court permitted Montgomery's testimony that he took and successfully passed a polygraph exam, clearing himself of the murder. (R. p. 430, ln. 13-24).

At the trial, the court also permitted evidence of the petitioner's statement to law enforcement, despite the petitioner's invocation of his right to counsel. (R. p. 11; R. p. 59, ln. 23-25, 60, ln. 1-8).

On March 14, 2013, the jury found the petitioner guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 1). The same day, the petitioner was sentenced to five years imprisonment on the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and life imprisonment on the murder. (R. p. 2 (murder); R. p. 3 (possession of a

weapon); R. p. 530, ln. 8-25; 531, ln. 1-4). The petitioner timely filed his Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 8).

The petitioner briefed the following issues to the Court of Appeals: (1) Did the trial court error in granting the State's Batson v. Kentucky motion and quashing the original jury?; (2) Did the trial court error in deny the petitioner's motion for a mistrial and new trial after the admission of a witness taking and successfully passing a polygraph examination?; (3) Did the trial court error in refusing to dismiss this case after the state violated the petitioner's right to a speedy trial?; (4) Did the trial court error in admitting the petitioner's statement after he unambiguously invoked his right to counsel?; and (5) Did the trial court error imposing a five-year sentence on the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime after sentencing the petitioner to life without parole on the murder? (Appellant's Brief).

On November 3, 2015, the Court of Appeals held oral arguments. On February 24, 2016, it filed an opinion holding that the trial court did not error in (1) granting the State's Batson v. Kentucky motion; (2) denying the petitioner's motion for a mistrial and motion for a new trial; (3) denying his motion for a speedy trial; and (4) admitting his statement to law enforcement after he invoked his right to counsel. State v. Palmer, Opinion No. 5382 (Ct. App. 2016) (Appx. 1-16). It held that the trial court erred in sentencing the petitioner for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime after sentencing him to life imprisonment without parole for murder. Id. It therefore affirmed the petitioner's convictions for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and vacated his sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Id.

On March 8, 2016, the petitioner timely filed and served his Petition for Rehearing. (Appx. 17-27). On April 4, 2016, the respondent filed a Return to the Petition for Rehearing. (Appx. 28-38). On April 21, 2016, the Court of Appeals filed an Order denying the petitioner's Petition for Rehearing. (Appx. 39-40). This Petition follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Did the Court of Appeals error in finding that the trial court properly granted the State's Batson v. Kentucky motion and quashing the original jury?

The Court of Appeals decision is in direct conflict with this Court's decision in State v. Inman, 409 S.C. 19, 26, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108 (2014). As stated by this Court, the three-step inquiry for evaluating whether a party executed a peremptory challenge in a matter which violated the Equal Protection clause is as follows:

First, the party asserting the *Batson* challenge must make a prima facie showing that the challenge was based on race. If a sufficient showing is made, the trial court will move to the second step in the process, which requires the party opposing the *Batson* challenge to provide a race neutral explanation for the challenge. If the trial court finds that burden has been met, the process will proceed to the third step, at which point the trial court must determine whether the party asserting the challenge has proved purposeful discrimination. The ultimate burden always rests with the party asserting the *Batson* challenge to prove purposeful discrimination.

Inman, 409 S.C. at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108 (citations omitted). Like in Inman, the trial court here committed legal error by improperly placing the ultimate burden of persuasion on the petitioner.

The petitioner struck 11 jurors, both white and black. (R. p. 33, ln. 1-18). The State made a Batson motion as to the white jurors, arguing that the petitioner should be required to provide a race neutral reason to why he struck them. (R. p. 33, ln. 1-18). One of those jurors was Juror 173, who sat on the second jury. (R. p. 33, ln. 8; 45, ln. 16-21).

The petitioner gave race-neutral reasons for striking the prospective white jurors. (R. p. 34, ln. 6 – 37, ln. 20; p. 39, ln. 21 – 40, ln. 8). With respect to Juror 173, the petitioner’s counsel explained that he struck Juror 173 due to his employment as a plant supervisor. (R. p. 36, ln. 13-17). Given Juror 173’s supervisory capacity, counsel was concerned that if he was appointed foreman on the jury and was unsympathetic to the petitioner, there could be improper influence. (R. p. 36, ln. 13-17).

At this point, “the circuit court should have shifted the ultimate burden of persuasion back to the State to show that the proffered reason was pretextual.” Inman, 409 S.C. at 28, 760 S.E.2d at 108 (citing State v. Evins, 373 S.C. 404, 415, 645 S.E.2d 904, 909 (2007)). The State never gave a reason why it thought the petitioner’s reason for striking Juror 173 was pretextual. (See R. p. 37, ln. 24 – p. 39, ln. 15). It acknowledged that it “hadn’t had quite an opportunity to go down through everybody.” (R. p. 29, ln. 1-3). Yet, it was the State’s burden to do so. See Inman, 409 S.C. at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108 (“The ultimate burden always rests with the party asserting the *Batson* challenge to prove purposeful discrimination”) (citations omitted).

In both Inman and here, the trial court improperly placed the ultimate burden of persuasion on the petitioner. In Inman, the trial court stated that “I’m going to grant the State’s motion based on those three individuals jurors numbers 17, 60, and 166 *that the reasons given I don’t believe are sufficient.*” Inman, 409 S.C. at 24, 760 S.E.2d at 107 (emphasis that of the Court). Similarly here, the trial court stated that “[t]he defense has stricken and *I’m not convinced that the answers that were race neutral* and therefore I am going to strike this jury. We will re-strike the entire panel.” (R. p. 40, ln. 9-12). It was not the petitioner’s burden to

convince the court that his answers were race neutral. See Inman, 409 S.C. at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108. It was the State's burden to prove purposeful discrimination. Id.

Even assuming that the trial court applied the correct burden, its holding that it was "not convinced that the answers that were given were race neutral" is clearly erroneous. (See R. p. 40, ln. 9-12). Every reason the petitioner gave, including the reason for striking Juror 173, was race neutral. (R. p. 34 – 37). This is undisputed.

The Court of Appeals never addressed the issue of whether the trial court committed legal error by placing the ultimate burden of persuasion on the petitioner. It instead held that the trial court "did not err in granting the State's *Batson* motion" because "the State demonstrated the explanations were pretextual by showing [the petitioner] did not strike similarly-situated members of another race." (Appx. 7). However, this was a finding for the trial court to make, not the Court of Appeals. See Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 364, 111 S.Ct. 1859, 1869, 114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991) ("*Batson's* treatment of intent to discriminate as a pure issue of fact, subject to review under a deferential standard, accords with our treatment of that issue in other equal protection cases").

Even if the Court of Appeals could appropriately make this finding, its conclusion that the State met its burden was in error. The State never gave a reason why it thought the proffered reason for Juror 173 was pretextual. (See R. p. 37, ln. 24 – p. 39, ln. 15). It instead told the trial court that it "hadn't had quite an opportunity to go down through everybody." (R. p. 29, ln. 1-3).

Moreover, State did not meet its burden in proving purposeful discrimination with respect to any of the other jurors. As stated by the petitioner's counsel, the petitioner used his very first strike against black juror. (R. p. 33, ln. 23 – 34, ln. 4; see also R. p. 601, showing defendant's

first strike against Juror 99, a black female). The State attempted to make a “similarly situated” argument of governmental employment, stating that one of the reasons proffered by the petitioner for striking some white jurors was being in government-related employment. (R. p. 38, ln. 3-5). However, as detailed by petitioner’s counsel, this was not the case. He struck Juror 31 because she was employed with the Department of Social Services. (R. p. 35, ln. 9-10). The petitioner’s counsel did a substantial amount of Family Court work and was very familiar with DSS child abuse and neglect cases, and felt that those involved with DSS may be potentially sympathetic to law enforcement. (R. p. 35, ln. 11-15). Similarly, he struck Juror 97 who worked at the United States Postal Service, because based on the Juror’s employment he may have some sympathies for law enforcement. (R. p. 35, ln. 17-20). Counsel explained that he seated Juror 27 who was a bus driver because, while Juror 27 was technically a county employee, she was not employed within the county walls and he was not concerned that a bus driver out amongst the community is going to have similar law enforcement leanings. (R. p. 40, ln. 1-7). The State offered explanation as to why a bus driver was similarly situated to DSS and USPS employees. It was the State’s burden to do so.

The State also tried to make a “similarly situated” argument that the petitioner struck potential white jurors who were from Hemmingway, yet seated potential black jurors who were from Hemmingway. (R. p. 39, ln. 3-9). Despite the State’s argument, the petitioner’s counsel only struck one juror from Hemmingway (Juror 136), who happened to be white. As explained by petitioner’s counsel, counsel did not strike him for being from Hemmingway. Counsel struck Juror 136 for being an electrician because the case involved mechanical issues with the petitioner’s vehicle, and if he had any more knowledge about those things he could potentially

sway the jurors. (R. p. 36, ln. 1-10; p. 29, ln. 21-25). In fact, the petitioner's counsel seated a white juror from Hemmingway, which weighs against a discriminatory intent. (R. p. 29, ln. 7-8; R. p. 603); State v. Haigler, 334 S.C. 623, 361-32, 515 S.E.2d 88, 92 (1999) (the prosecutor's seating of other black jurors weighed against discriminatory intent).

The State also attempted to make a "similarly situated" argument of employment in the medical field, stating that one of petitioner's proffered reasons for striking jurors was he did not want anyone in the medical field. (R. p. 38, ln. 17-19). Again, as detailed by petitioner's counsel, this was not the case. The petitioner struck Juror 5 because his wife was a registered nurse in an operating room. (R. p. 37, ln. 2-3). As the petitioner's counsel explained: "I'm familiar with the relationship of a lot of operating room nurses have with law enforcement. There's a lot of contact between operating nurses and law enforcement because you know you've got wrecks or traumas things of that nature so I found that especially nurses in the operating room can be sympathetic to law enforcement." (R. p. 37, ln. 2-8). He similarly struck Juror 30 because she was a paramedic, and like registered nurses who work in operating rooms, paramedics have a close working relationship with law enforcement. (R. p. 37, ln. 17-20). The petitioner seated Juror 12, a certified nursing assistant at a hospital. (R. p. 28, ln. 23-24). However, the State failed to show how Juror 12 was similarly situated to Juror 5 or Juror 30. There is nothing in the record to suggest that Juror 12 worked closely with law enforcement as a certified nursing assistant, as do registered nurses in the operating room and paramedics. This was the State's burden to meet.

The trial court committed legal error by placing the ultimate burden on the petitioner. Even assuming that the trial court did not commit legal error, its holding that it was "not

convinced that the answers that were given [by the petitioner] were race neutral” is clearly erroneous. Moreover, the State did not meet its burden of purposeful discrimination with respect to Juror 173 or any of the other jurors. Because Juror 173 sat on the second jury, prejudice is presumed and the proper remedy is a new trial. Inman, 409 S.C. at 29, 760 S.E.2d at 110.

II. Did the Court of Appeals error in finding that the trial court properly denied the petitioner’s motion for a mistrial and motion for a new trial after a witness testified that he took and passed a polygraph test, clearing the witness of the murder for which the petitioner was on trial?

This Court “has consistently held the results of polygraph examinations are generally not admissible because the reliability of the tests is questionable.” State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 23, 515 S.E.2d 508, 529 (1999). Although the State did not ask the witness whether he “passed” or “failed” the polygraph, by its use of the term “cleared,” it elicited evidence concerning the result of the test:

Q: You voluntarily submitted yourself to a polygraph right?

Mr. Ballinger: Objection.

The Court: No overruled.

Q: You voluntarily submitted yourself to a polygraph right?

A: Correct.

Q: Anything they asked of you, you gave it to them right?

A: That’s correct.

Q: And you were cleared by the police?

A: Correct.

(R. p. 430, ln. 13-24).

The term “cleared” is often used rather than “passed” when discussing polygraph results. *See, e.g., People v. Barbara*, 255 N.W.2d 171, 178 (Mich. 1977) (The witness “testified to the common policy in many states that individuals who are cleared by the polygraph examiner are not prosecuted”); *Kirby v. Williamson Oil Co.*, 510 So.2d 176, 179 (Ala. 1987) (“Neu had once accused Kirby of being involved in a store inventory shortage, though he later cleared her of involvement when he gave her a polygraph examination”); *Davern v. Midwest Communications, Inc.*, 1993 WL 527905, *8 (Ct. App. Minn. 1993) (“Another example is the polygraph examination of the suspected driver. ... The polygraph cleared, to the limited extent a polygraph examination can, the driver of criminal involvement in the accident”); *Leonard v. State*, 385 S.W.3d 570, 573 (Ct. App. Tx. 2012) (“The appellant had failed three polygraphs prior to April 2007, at which point the appellant ‘made several admissions’ and ‘cleared’ a polygraph. After that ‘cleared’ polygraph, the appellant then failed five polygraphs ...”); *Laney v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 2012 WL 4069680, *1 (D.S.C. 2012) (“Apparently Plaintiff took a polygraph exam which ‘cleared Plaintiff’ ...”); *King v. Oakland County Prosecutor*, 842 N.W.2d 403, 406 (Ct. App. Mich. 2013) (“Busch was briefly considered a suspect in the murder of the first OCCK victim, but he was allegedly cleared by law enforcement officials following a polygraph examination”); *Martin v. Citibank, N.A.*, 762 F.2d 212, 215 (2nd Cir. 1985) (“The second person tested was cleared, but the third failed the polygraph and was discharged”). By the very use of the term “cleared,” the unmistakable evidence was that the witness passed the polygraph.

Even if the term “cleared” is not synonymous with “passed” when discussing a polygraph, the above-quoted testimony was inadmissible and prejudicial. The Court of Appeals

incorrectly adopts a *per se* rule that so long as the results of a polygraph are not introduced into evidence, there is no prejudice from this evidence. (Appx. 10) (holding that “[b]ecause there was no evidence regarding the results of the witness’ polygraph test, Palmer failed to meet his burden of establishing the prejudicial impact of this evidence”).

The Court of Appeals’ conclusion and *per se* rule directly contradicts this Court’s precedent. As held by this Court, there may be prejudice even if the results of a polygraph are not introduced into evidence. The question becomes whether the reference to a polygraph creates an impermissible inference thereby prejudicing the defendant. Bruno v. State, 347 S.C. 446, 451, 556 S.E.2d 393, 395 (2001); State v. Johnson, 376 S.C. 8, 11, 654 S.E.2d 835, 836 (2007).

In Bruno, the Court found that there was no prejudice where the jury could have inferred that the witness passed the polygraph, or it could have made an “equally plausible” inference that the witness failed the polygraph. Bruno, 347 S.C. at 451-52 556 S.E.2d at 396. This reasoning makes sense because if it plausible that the witness passed the polygraph, and it is not equally plausible that the witness failed the polygraph, the results of the polygraph would, in effect, be introduced as evidence.

The Court of Appeals here incorrectly framed the issue. It stated that there was no prejudice to the petitioner because the jury could have inferred that the witness passed the polygraph or it could have made an “equally plausible inference” that petitioner was not asked to take a polygraph. (Appx. 9-10). The correct issue is whether it was “equally plausible” that the witness passed the polygraph as it was that he failed the polygraph.

The plausible inference from the above-quoted testimony was that the witness passed the polygraph.¹ There was not an “equally plausible inference” that the witness failed the polygraph. The *only* plausible inference is that the witness passed the polygraph.

In Johnson, this Court addressed a second impermissible inference created by a reference to a polygraph - - one that bolsters the credibility of the witness. Johnson, 376 S.C. at 11, 654 S.E.2d at 836. The Court of Appeals overlooked this point and did not address this issue.

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