STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

RECEIVED

JUL 01 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY  
The Honorable William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

---

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001083 (Ct. App. Case No. 2013-000700)  
Opinion No. 5382 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 2/24/2016)

---

THE STATE

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARC ANTHONY PALMER,

PETITIONER.

---

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.

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

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent would note that Palmer's contention that there was a distinction between a certified nursing assistant and an operating room nurse or a paramedic was not one made during the Batson hearing, and was thus not preserved for review. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003); see State v. Perez, 334 S.C. 563, 565-66, 514 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1999) (issue not raised and ruled upon by trial court is procedurally barred and not preserved for appeal); see also State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (party cannot argue one ground below and then another on appeal).

State v. Green, 306 S.C. 94, 409 S.E.2d 785 (1991)). In light of the arguments asserted by the solicitor regarding the pretextual nature of some of the strikes utilized by Palmer in jury selection, the trial court's grant of the Batson motion should be affirmed.

Any error in granting the State's Batson motion was harmless. Palmer contends that prejudice should be presumed because Juror 173, who was initially struck in the first jury, was allowed to sit in the second jury. Palmer further contends the strike of Juror 173 was one of the challenged strikes. Palmer's reliance on the seating of Juror 173 on the second jury is misplaced. While the strike of Juror 173 was initially listed by the State as one of the peremptory strikes being challenged in step one of the process, the State did not assert that the argument given for Juror 173 was not race neutral or pretextual in step three. By not asserting the reason given for the strike of Juror 173 was pretext, the State withdrew its challenge to that strike. This withdrawal is reflected in the argument presented by the solicitor in response to the race-neutral reasons given by the defense for its strikes. The solicitor specifically challenged the explanations given for the jurors who were struck because of their government related employment, the jurors who were struck because of their relation to the medical field, and the juror who was struck because it was from Hemingway. (R. pp. 38-9). The solicitor further stated "Judge we would take the position obviously **some of the reasons** that were advanced by the defense are in fact pretextual that they applied those to white to strike the jurors but at the same time similarly situated black jurors were seated. . . ." (R. p. 39, ll 9-13).

Since the State withdrew its challenge to Juror 173 before the trial court ruled upon the Batson motion, the fact Juror 173 was seated on the second jury does not warrant a presumption of prejudice.

If a trial court improperly grants the State's Batson motion, but none of the disputed jurors serve on the jury, any error in improperly quashing the jury is

harmless because a defendant is not entitled to the jury of her choice. State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 114, 631 S.E.2d 244, 248 (2006). However, if one of the disputed jurors is seated on the jury, then the erroneous Batson ruling has tainted the jury and prejudice is presumed in such cases “because there is no way to determine with any degree of certainty whether a defendant's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury was abridged.” Id. at 114, 631 S.E.2d at 248. The proper remedy in such cases is the granting of a new trial.

State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 509, 682 S.E.2d 820, 823 (2009). Since Juror 173 was not, in the end, a disputed juror, any error the trial court may have made in granting the State’s Batson motion as to any other juror was harmless. Certiorari upon this claim should therefore be denied, and Palmer’s convictions should be affirmed.

**II. Certiorari should be denied upon Palmer’s claim the trial court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial and motion for a new trial. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court’s denial of relief upon these motions; Palmer was not prejudiced by any error that may have resulted from the question of a defense witness regarding whether he took a polygraph.**

At issue in the second claim in the petition is whether the trial court erred in denying motions for a mistrial and a new trial based upon a question by the solicitor during cross-examination of Michael Montgomery. Montgomery had testified that testified that on the night before the shooting, he went to Frank Conyer’s club in Greeleyville. (R. pp. 425-26). Montgomery also testified that he slept at Conyer’s house that night. (R. p. 426). Montgomery indicated that he went to the victim’s mother’s house the next day. (R. p. 427). He further testified that he demanded that he wanted his money. (R. p. 427). Montgomery stated that the next day, he was at his home. (R. p. 427). He also acknowledged that he owned a 12 gauge firearm. (R. pp. 427-28). During cross-examination, Montgomery stated he was not at the scene when the victim was murdered, and he cooperated with law enforcement. He also indicated that he provided a DNA sample. He was asked by the State if he submitted to a polygraph examination, which led to an objection. After admitting that he had, Montgomery went on to

testify that he did everything law enforcement requested, and law enforcement cleared him of being involved. (R. p. 430). Palmer moved for a mistrial based on the reference to a polygraph examination. (R. p. 467). The trial court denied the motion, and later denied a motion for a new trial that was based on the same objection. (R. pp. 468, 524). On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

To receive a mistrial, Palmer was required to show error and resulting prejudice. See Council, 335 S.C. at 13, 515 S.E.2d at 514. We find the trial court's decision not to grant a mistrial is supported by the evidence. First, the evidence admitted was simply that the witness took a polygraph test. The results of this test were not indicated at trial and are not mentioned anywhere in the record. While the jury could have inferred, as claimed by Palmer, that the witness passed the polygraph test and was no longer a suspect, and Palmer did not take a polygraph test because he could not pass one, an equally plausible inference is that Palmer was not asked to take a polygraph because there was no mention of Palmer being asked to take one. Because there was no evidence regarding the results of the witness' polygraph test, Palmer failed to meet his burden of establishing the prejudicial impact of this evidence. Further, the one reference to the witness taking a polygraph test was an isolated comment. Therefore, we find the trial court did not err in denying his motions.

Palmer, 415 S.C. at 518, 783 S.E.2d at 831.

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Crim, 327 S.C. 254, 257, 489 S.E.2d 478, 479 (1997); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct.App.1999). Appellate courts have favored the exercise of wide discretion of the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case. State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 483, 374 S.E.2d 284, 285 (1988). "It is only in cases of abuse of discretion which result in prejudice that this court will intervene and grant a new trial." State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 94, 180 S.E.2d 888, 890 (1971). "A mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons." Patterson, 337 S.C. at 227, 522 S.E.2d at 851; see also State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255

(1989); State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977) (“The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes.”).

“[A] mistrial should not be ordered in every case in which incompetent evidence is improperly admitted.” State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 444, 639 S.E.2d 160, 162 (Ct.App.2006)(citing State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 89, 512 S.E.2d 795, 801 (1999) and Patterson, 337 S.C. at 227, 522 S.E.2d at 851). “[T]he trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. In order to receive a mistrial, the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice.” State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999) (internal citation omitted). “In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 497, 748 S.E.2d 236, 241 (Ct.App.2013) (citing State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866 (citation omitted).

“This Court [the South Carolina Supreme Court] has consistently held the results of polygraph examinations are generally not admissible because the reliability of the tests is questionable.” State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 23, 515 S.E.2d 508, 519 (1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1050, 120 S.Ct. 588, 145 L.Ed.2d 489 (1999). Although this Court in Council declined to recognize a per se rule against the admission of polygraph evidence, it indicated that the “admissibility of this type of scientific evidence should be analyzed under Rules 702 and 403, SCRE and the Jones factors.” Id. at 24, 515 S.E.2d at 520.

Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 533, 657 S.E.2d 771, 778 (2008). “The general rule is that no mention of a polygraph test should be placed before the jury. It is thus incumbent upon the trial

judge to ensure that should such a reference be made, no improper inference be drawn therefrom.” State v. Johnson, 376 S.C. 8, 11, 654 S.E.2d 835, 836 (2007) (citing State v. McGuire, 272 S.C. 547, 551, 253 S.E.2d 103, 105 (1979)).

Neither a mistrial nor a new trial was warranted by the solicitor’s single question about whether Montgomery submitted to a polygraph examination. The transcript reflects that the question was intended solely to show that Montgomery had cooperated with law enforcement during their investigation. Unlike the case in Johnson, no mention of the results of the polygraph was made. There was no mention of whether Palmer was subjected or offered a polygraph.

Palmer suffered no prejudice from the question regarding the polygraph examination. While Montgomery was asked if he had voluntarily submitted to a polygraph, the results of the polygraph were never discussed at trial. See Bruno v. State, 347 S.C. 446, 452, 556 S.E.2d 393, 396 (2001) (finding that a defendant could not establish he was prejudiced by counsel’s failure to object to mention of a polygraph examination when the results of the exam were not presented in any form). Further, the one question during Montgomery’s cross-examination was the only reference to a polygraph throughout Palmer’s trial. The solicitor did not attempt to use the testimony about the polygraph in any way throughout the rest of the trial. Further, Montgomery’s testimony was neither inculpatory nor exculpatory. Montgomery was not a witness to the shooting, and nothing in his testimony reflected on the credibility of any other witness involved in the case. The single mention of a polygraph examination for a witness who provided no information that implicated Palmer in the crime did not render Palmer’s case unfair.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Respondent would also note that Palmer’s contention that the results were discussed is both not supported by the record and not preserved for review by this Court. This particular argument was not presented at trial (see R. p. 467), and was not raised to the Court of Appeals until the Petition for Rehearing. Nelson v. QHG of S. Carolina, Inc., 362 S.C. 421, 427, 608 S.E.2d 855, 858 (2005)(finding argument not preserved for review because the argument was not raised until

The distinctions between Palmer's trial and the scenario presented in Bruno further support for the trial court's determination that any error was harmless. In Bruno, the witness who testified about taking a polygraph examination was vital to the State's case. He provided law enforcement with information that established the defendant committed the murder, and his testimony was corroborated by evidence recovered. Bruno, 347 S.C. at 449, 556 S.E.2d at 394. Here, the witness at issue was not at the scene, and he provided no inculpatory or exculpatory information at trial. In Bruno, the polygraphed witness' credibility was an important issue. His testimony was corroborated by other evidence. Bruno, 347 S.C. at 452, 556 S.E.2d at 396. Here, the polygraphed witness' credibility was not an important issue. Again, he provided no inculpatory or exculpatory information at trial. Further, outside of Montgomery's testimony regarding visiting the victim's mother, there was no other evidence presented at trial that linked Montgomery to the case at all. Altogether, the single reference to the fact Montgomery took a polygraph did not prejudice Palmer. Since Palmer was not prejudiced by the single mention of a polygraph examination in Montgomery's cross-examination, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Palmer's motion for a mistrial and motion for a new trial. Certiorari should therefore be denied, and Palmer's convictions should be affirmed.

**III. Certiorari should be denied upon Palmer's claim that his motion for a speedy trial was improperly denied.**

In his third claim in the petition, Palmer asserts the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's denial of his speedy trial motion. Certiorari should be denied because the Court of Appeals was reasonable in affirming the trial court's denial of the motion for a speedy trial.

---

the petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeals)(citing Rule 226(d)(2), SCACR); see also State v. Primus, 349 S.C. 576, 564 S.E.2d 103 (2002), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

In affirming the trial court's denial of the motion, the Court of Appeals stated,

Palmer's trial was held just shy of two years from the date of his first motion for a speedy trial. We find this delay was sufficient to trigger further review of his right to speedy trial, and he asserted his right three times. See Waites, 270 S.C. at 108, 240 S.E.2d at 653 (determining a two-year-and-four-month delay was sufficient to trigger further review). As for the reason for the delay, at the July 21, 2011 hearing, the solicitor noted Palmer's case would not be able to be tried until Spring 2012 because of other matters already scheduled. An additional reason for the delay was due to Palmer having four attorneys prior to trial. See State v. Kennedy, 339 S.C. 243, 250, 528 S.E.2d 700, 704 (Ct.App.2000) (finding no violation of the defendant's right to a speedy trial, even though the delay was two years and two months, when the case was clearly complicated and required substantial time to investigate and prepare and there was no evidence the State purposefully delayed the trial); State v. Smith, 307 S.C. 376, 380, 415 S.E.2d 409, 411 (Ct.App.1992) (holding the burden was on the defendant to show the delay was due to the neglect and willfulness of the State's prosecution). As for prejudice to Palmer, he contended he was prejudiced because his case hinged on eyewitness testimony, and they may have difficulty in recalling. Palmer was able to challenge some witness' credibility by using their prior statements. See Brazell, 325 S.C. at 76, 480 S.E.2d at 70-71 (noting the three-year-and-five-month delay was negated by the lack of prejudice to the defense); Kennedy, 339 S.C. at 251, 528 S.E.2d at 704 ("While Kennedy may have been slightly prejudiced by the twenty-six month pretrial incarceration, the more important question is whether he was prejudiced because the delay impaired his defense."); Langford, 400 S.C. at 445, 735 S.E.2d at 484 (finding a two-year delay in bringing the case to trial did not amount to a constitutional violation in the absence of any actual prejudice to the defendant's case). Furthermore, the death of the one witness was not raised at trial; therefore, it is not preserved. Accordingly, we find the trial court properly weighed the four Barker factors, and the evidence supported its decision.

Palmer, 415 S.C. at 521-22, 783 S.E.2d at 833.

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